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Oscar Smith respectfully requests that this Court deny the
Attorney General and Reporter’s motion to set an execution date. His
trial was plagued by multiple constitutional violations, including (1) a
jury comprised of a biased juror, a jury that considered inaccurate,
extrajudicial information, and jurors who engaged in misconduct by
presenting themselves as experts during jury deliberations; (2) an
unreliable conviction, as the prosecution’s theory of the case did not
account for the physical evidence and the police and prosecutors
mishandled evidence; and (3) five errors this Court previously found to
be “harmless,” which, as i1s clear now, were not harmless. His death
sentence 1s also the product of a criminal justice system that
unconstitutionally metes out death sentences in a racist manner and
contrary to evolving standards of decency. The many due process
violations shown here demand a procedural remedy such that Mr. Smith
may establish his entitlement to a new trial. In the alternative, Mr.
Smith requests this court certify to the Honorable Bill Lee, Governor of
the State of Tennessee, that there are extenuating circumstances
attending this case and the punishment of death should be commuted.

I. This Court should deny the State’s motion to set an execution
date, because Oscar Smith was convicted and sentenced to death
by an unconstitutionally comprised jury that was biased against
him and that considered erroneous, extrajudicial information.

Due process requires this Court to establish a procedure for the
vindication of Mr. Smith’s constitutional rights. As will be shown here,

Mr. Smith was convicted and sentenced to death in proceedings things

that violated his constitutional rights in three fundamental ways: (1) a



juror who was biased against Mr. Smith and overtly hid that bias by
failing to answer the trial court’s questions truthfully was allowed to sit
in judgment of Mr. Smith; (2) the jury considered inaccurate, extraneous
information; (3) some jurors engaged in misconduct, presenting
themselves as experts in matters relating to the proof and offering
testimony not subject to cross examination. Because due process requires
adjudication of Mr. Smith’s claims and no current procedural vehicle is
available, this Court should create a procedure to fill the procedural
void.!

A. One of the jurors who sat in judgment of Mr. Smith was biased
against Mr. Smith and concealed that bias in order to be
seated on the jury.

Mr. Burton’s participation in Mr. Smith’s capital murder trial
violated Mr. Smith’s constitutional right to a fair and impartial jury. Mr.
Burton “believed that anytime someone killed a person on purpose they
should get the death penalty.”2 Despite this belief, Mr. Burton concealed
his opinion from the court and from counsel. Mr. Burton was biased
against Mr. Smith and any potentially mitigating evidence Mr. Smith
would present before he even heard the proof.

The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the federal constitution
require that a criminal defendant be tried by an impartial and unbiased
jury. Morgan v. Illinors, 504 U.S. 719 (1992). “The right to a jury trial

guarantees to the criminally accused a fair trial by a panel of impartial,

1 Ex. 1, State v. Hall E1997-00344-SC-DDT-DD (Tenn. December 3,
2019) (citing Van Tran v. State, 6 S.W.3d 257, 260 (Tenn. 1999)).
2 Ex. 2, Burton Decl.
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‘indifferent’ jurors. The failure to accord an accused a fair hearing
violates even the minimal standards of due process.” Irvin v. Dowd, 366
U.S. 717, 722 (1961). Similarly, the Tennessee Constitution guarantees
each criminal defendant “a trial by a jury free of . .. disqualification on
account of some bias or partiality toward one side or the other of the
litigation.” Toombs v. State, 279 S.W.2d 649, 650 (Tenn. 1954). A
sentence of death rendered by a juror unable to “give meaningful effect”
to mitigating evidence is “fatally flawed.” Abdul-Kabir v. Quarteman, 550
U.S. 233, 246, 264 (2007). See also Smith v. Texas, 550 U.S. 297 (2007);
Brewer v. Quarterman, 550 U.S. 286 (2007); Boyde v. California, 494 U.S.
370 (1990); Franklin v. Lynaugh, 487 U.S. 164 (1988); Eddings v.
Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104 (1982).

Morgan and its progeny make clear that a juror must be able to
consider and give meaningful effect to all mitigating evidence presented,
and that voir dire protects this right by allowing trial counsel to question
potential jurors to expose “possible biases, both known and unknown, on
the part of potential jurors.” Dennis v. Mitchell, 354 F.3d 511, 520 (6th
Cir. 2003). Morgan notes that “any juror who states that he or she will
automatically vote for the death penalty without regard to the mitigating
evidence i1s announcing an intention not to follow the instructions to
consider the mitigating evidence.” Morgan, 504 U.S. at 738.

“The right to a jury that is fair and impartial is fundamental, and
the denial of that right cannot be treated as harmless error. Faulker v.
State, No. W2012-00612-CCA-R3-PD, 2014 WL 4267460 at *81 (Tenn.
Crim. App. Aug. 29, 2014) (citations omitted). “Such errors are structural
constitutional errors that compromise the integrity of the judicial
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process. Id. (citations omitted). Structural errors “necessarily render a
criminal trial fundamentally unfair or an unreliable vehicle for
determining guilt or innocence . . . and are subject to automatic reversal
because they deprive a defendant of a right to a fair trial.” /d. (citations
omitted). “Our system of justice cannot tolerate a trial with a tainted
juror, regardless of the strength of the evidence against the defendant.”
1d.

Whether a juror, himself, believes that he was biased is irrelevant
to the consideration of structural error. This Court has held that a juror
1s disqualified from service “where some bias or partiality is either
actually shown to exist or is presumed to exist from circumstances.” State
v. Hugueley, 185 S.W.3d 356, 378 (Tenn. 2006). This Court has held that
bias is presumed when a juror purposefully conceals or fails to disclose
information relevant to that juror’s impartiality. Smith v. State, 357
S.W.3d 322, 347-48 (Tenn. 2011). Once shown, such a presumption
cannot be overcome by a juror’s testimony that the bias did not affect the
verdict. Faulkner, 2014 WL 4267460 at *78.

The record here reflects Mr. Burton was quite clear about his bias.
He explained how strongly he believes in capital punishment, describing
himself as a “nine or ten” out of ten on a scale in favor of the death
penalty.? When Mr. Smith’s counsel asked Mr. Burton how that belief
would apply in a case, he initially was forthright, but later changed his

response in the face of the Court’s questioning:

3 Ex. 3, Trial Tr. at 742.
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Mr. Newman: Okay. And would the fact that there are three
people killed, would that in any way inhibit you from
considering life imprisonment as opposed to the death
penalty? Or do you consider that any person who is
convicted of three crimes or murder should receive the
death penalty automatically?

Juror [Burton]: If he’s proven guilty, he should, yes, sir.

Mr. Newman: Okay. So even though the Judge would instruct
you that you are to weigh the factors, is it your position
and are you telling the Court that if it is three murders,
that you would automatically vote for the death penalty?

Juror [Burton]: Yes, sir.

Mr. Newman: And that would be despite whatever
instructions the Judge may give you because of your
personal feelings concerning this type of crime?

Juror [Burton]: Yes, sir.

Mr. Newman: Your Honor, at this point we’d ask that he be
excused.

Gen. Blackburn: Well, Your Honor, I'd object at this point.
He’s already answered the question a different way.

The Court: He answered the question already that if he
thought the aggravating factors did not outweigh the
mitigating factors that he would impose a life sentence.
He has answered that two or three different ways. I
think you need to answer the question now, Mr. Burton,
and I understand what his question is, is whether or not,
if you did not find that the mitigating — that the
aggravating factors outweighed the mitigating factors,



in any of the three cases involving the victim of
homicide, whether or not you would follow the law and
1mpose a life sentence in each case, or whether he would
decide because there were three cases that you would
automatically impose the death sentence or something.
That’s the question.

In other words, if in any one of the three cases where
there are victims alleged, you thought the aggravating
factors outweighed the mitigating factors you would
impose the death penalty in that particular case of that
particular victim. But if in none of the cases you thought
the aggravating factors outweighed the mitigating
factors, then you would impose a life sentence in each of
those?

Juror [Burton]: Yes, sir. Yes, sir.

The Court: And not add them up and have a cumulative —
Juror [Burton]: Right.

The Court: --sort of a —

Juror: Yes sir.

The Court — finding? Do you understand the point I'm
making?

Juror [Burton]: Yes, sir.

The Court: All right. Now, Understanding that, I'm not trying
to interject my question into Mr. Newman’s, but I
thought based on your earlier answers you may have
misunderstood them. If you had, say, Victim A, and you
found that the aggravating circumstances did not,
beyond a reasonable doubt, outweigh the mitigating
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circumstances in that case, what would your sentence
be?

Juror [Burton]: Life.

The Court: If you had Victim B, and you thought the
aggravating factors did not outweigh beyond a
reasonable doubt the mitigating factors as to that
victim, what would —

Juror [Burton]: that would be life.

The Court: -- your verdict be? And as to Victim C, if you found
that the aggravating factors did not beyond a reasonable
doubt outweigh the mitigating factors, what would your
verdict be —

Juror [Burton]: Life

The Court: —in that case? All right. So are you saying if factors
did not outweigh — the aggravating factors did not
outweigh the mitigating factors, in any of the three
victim’s case that you would return a verdict of life in
this case, assuming —

Juror [Burton]: Yes, sir.

The Court: -- that guilt is proven beyond a reasonable doubt;
1s that what you’re saying.

Juror [Burton]: Yes, sir.

The Court: Okay. I thought that that was what he was saying,
but I'll be glad to let you ask him a follow-up question,
but I don’t want to have Mr. Burton getting maybe a
little confused by your question based on what I heard



him say two or three different ways in his responses to
earlier questions.

Okay. Go ahead.

Mr. Newman: Mr. Burton, I'm not trying to confuse you. And
if I have, I apologize. What my question concerned was,
was the — was the possibility that you may be sitting as
a juror trying to decide either death by electrocution or
life in prison, would the fact that there would be three
victims, would that cause you to have a preconceived
notion or an idea that you should vote for death by
electrocution?

Juror [Burton]: No, sir; not just because there was three.4

Mr. Burton has explained why he changed his initial forthright
response:

Before I was selected, the Judge talked to me in the court
room about my views on the death penalty. When I was being
questioned personally by the Judge, I felt like he did not like
my answers. I was confused by what the Judge was saying to
me, so I just went along with him. In fact, I have never
believed a person should get a life sentence if they meant to
kill someone. There was not anything Mr. Smith’s lawyer
could have said that would have made me change my opinion.5

Mr. Burton’s concealment of his bias and prejudgment of the appropriate

sentence deprived Mr. Smith of an impartial jury.

4 Ex. 4, Trial Tr. at 748 — 52.
5 Ex. 2, Burton Decl.



Mr. Burton’s deception further demonstrates his bias. That is to
say, not only had Mr. Burton impermissibly pre-judged the case, but his
“going along with the judge” so to be seated on the jury, thereby
purposefully concealing information relevant to his impartiality, creates
a presumption of bias (even if he had not admitted that he had prejudged
the case). Smith v. State, 357 S.W.3d 322, 347-48 (Tenn. 2011) (citing
Carruthers v. State, 145 S.W.3d 85, 97) (“[A] presumption of juror bias
arises ‘[w]hen a juror willfully conceals (or fails to disclose) information
on voir dire which reflects on the juror’s lack of impartiality.”).

B. Mr. Burton’s deception deprived Mr. Smith of a jury able to
provide individualized sentencing as required by the
Constitution.

Mr. Smith’s death sentence violates the Eighth Amendment,
because he was denied an individualized sentencing. Mr. Burton’s view
was absolute, across-the-board, and could not be changed.®6 As Mr.
Burton admits, “I have never believed a person should get a life sentence
if they meant to kill someone. There was not anything Mr. Smith’s
lawyers could have said that would have made me change my opinion.”?

The Constitution requires that capital sentencing be individualized
to each defendant’s “record, personal characteristics, and the
circumstances of his crime.” Woodson v. North Carolina, 428 U.S. 280,
303-04 (1976) (holding that in capital cases the “fundamental respect for

humanity underlying the Eighth Amendment requires consideration of

6 Ex. 2, Burton Decl.
71d.
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the character and records of the individual offender and the
circumstances of the particular offense as a constitutionally
indispensable part of the process.”); accord, Kansas v. Marsh, 548 U.S.
163, 173-74 (2006) (same); Tuilaepa v. California, 512 U.S. 967, 972
(1994) (same); Zant v. Stephens, 462 U.S. 862 (1983) (same). Under the
Eighth Amendment, “[w]hat is important at the selection stage is an
individualized determination of the basis of the character of the
individual and the circumstances of the crime.” Zant, 462 U.S. at 897
(emphasis in the original).

Mr. Burton’s deception (and his underlying bias) prevented Mr.
Smith from receiving the individualized determination the Eighth
Amendment requires. Instead of weighing Mr. Smith’s individual
characteristics — or even the individual characteristics of this crime — Mr.
Burton decided his vote for death based on his across-the-board belief
that any murder committed “on purpose” deserves the death penalty.8 As
he explains, Mr. Burton has “never believed a person should get a life
sentence if they meant to kill someone. There was not anything Mr.
Smith’s lawyers could have said that would have made me change my
opinion.”® Mr. Burton, accordingly, did not weigh aggravating versus
mitigating circumstances as required by the constitution and the law of
the State of Tennessee. Instead, he merely found Mr. Smith guilty of first
degree murder and that was, in his mind, good enough to merit the death

penalty.

8 Ex. 2, Burton Decl., 2.
9 Id. at q5.
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Mr. Burton’s admission proves that Mr. Smith did not receive a fair
trial by an impartial jury. Mr. Burton admits that he not only did not
follow the law regarding individualized sentence but that he also “went
along” with answers that obscured his determination to automatically
give the death penalty if Mr. Smith were convicted.

C. Inaccurate, extrajudicial information that improperly
influenced the jurors to vote for death infected the jury’s
determination of Mr. Smith’s sentence.

Mr. Smith is in danger of execution based on a juror impermissibly
and erroneously instructing another juror that a life sentence is only
thirteen years. “The Due Process Clause does not allow the execution of
a person ‘on the basis of information which he had no opportunity to deny
or explain.” Simmons v. South Carolina, 512 U.S. 154, 161-62 (1994)
(quoting Gardner v. Florida, 430 U.S. 349, 362 (1977)). Just as in
Simmons, “[t]o the extent this misunderstanding pervaded the jury’s
deliberations, it had the effect of creating a false choice between
sentencing petitioner to death and sentencing him to a limited period of
incarceration.” Id. at 161. Such a result is just as impermissible here as
the United States Supreme Court found it to be in Simmons.

The jury that sentenced Mr. Smith to death impermissibly
considered erroneous, extrajudicial information about the length of a life
sentence. As Juror Frank Buford reports, “I believed that life in prison
was just 13 years. I did not think 13 years was enough time for the crime,
so I voted for death. We went through the voting quite a few times. We
wrote down our vote, but everyone knew who was voting against the

death penalty. There was a young girl who was really upset with the idea
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of the death penalty and electrocution. I talked to her in the jury room
privately, and assured her that life in prison was only 13 years. We had
this conversation off to the side during deliberations. After our
discussion, she later changed her vote and the jury became unanimous
as to the death verdict.”10

The United States Supreme Court has “insisted that no one be
punished for a crime without ‘a charge fairly made and fairly tried in a
public

); State v. Payne, 791 S.W.2d 10, 21 (Tenn. 1990)). This Court

approved the trial court’s refusal to answer jury questions about the
length of a life sen tribunal free of prejudice, passion, excitement, and
tyrannical power.” Sheppard v. Maxwell, 384 U.S. 333, 350 (1966)
(quoting Chambers v. State of Florida, 309 U.S. 227, 236-37 (1940)).
Included in that right “is the requirement that the jury’s verdict be based
on evidence received in open court, not from outside sources.” Id. “[A
juror’s] verdict must be based on the evidence developed at the trial. This
1s true, regardless of the heinousness of the crime charged, the apparent
guilty of the offender or the state in life which he occupies.” /rvin v. Dowd,
366 U.S. 717, 722-23 (1961). While “impartiality and indifference do not
require ignorance,” jurors “cannot act in any case upon particular facts
material to Its disposition resting in their private knowledge.”
Thompson v. Parker, 867 F.3d 641, 647 (6th Cir. 2017) (quoting Head v.
Hargrave, 105 U.S. 45, 49 (1881) (emphasis in original)).

10 Ex. 5, Buford Decl.
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This Court has repeatedly held that the “after-effect of a jury’s
verdict, such as parole availability, is not a proper instruction or
consideration for the jury during deliberations.” State v. Bush, 942
S.W.2d 489 (Tenn. 1997) (citing State v. Caughron, 855 S.W.2d 526, 543
(Tenn. 1993tence, finding that to do so would

create the possibility of jury speculation on the length of time

a defendant would have to serve and could “breed

irresponsibility on the part of jurors premised upon the

proposition that corrective action can be taken by others at a

later date.” This Court held that instructing the jury on such

specific sentencing information could result in sentences of

death based on sheer speculation and on factors not
enumerated by statute and not sanctioned under the United

States Constitution or the Tennessee Constitution.

State v. Dellinger, 79 S.W.3d 458, 474-75 (Tenn. 2002) (quoting State v.
Smith, 857 S.W.2d 1, 11 (Tenn. 1993) and citing State v. Burns, 979
S.W.2d 276, 295-96 (Tenn. 1998)). That which this Court has sought to
prevent is exactly what happened here.

The jury that sentenced Mr. Smith to death did so based on “sheer
speculation and on factors not enumerated by statute and not sanctioned
under the United States Constitution or the Tennessee Constitution,” as
at least two members of the jury voted for death based on Mr. Buford’s
erroneous belief that Mr. Smith would only serve 13 years on a life
sentence. This 1is particularly problematic because the trial court

instructed the jury not to consider any information other than that

presented in open court -- four times:
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e “All you need to consider anything about this case on is what
you hear in this courtroom under oath and absolutely nothing

else.”11

e “[Clonsider only the evidence that you hear in this

courtroom.”12

e “This case must be decided solely upon the evidence that you

hear in the courtroom.”13

e “I again instruct you that you can consider no information in
reaching your verdict other than the evidence you hear in the

courtroom.”14

Unfortunately, the jurors did not heed the court’s instructions.

Rule 606 of the Tennessee Rules of Evidence does not prohibit
consideration of Mr. Buford’s declaration as proof of the jury’s
misconduct. A juror is permitted to testify about extraneous prejudicial
information improperly brought to the jury’s attention, including
consideration of facts not in evidence. Carruthers v. State, 145 S.W.3d
85, 92 (Tenn. Crim. App., Jan 26, 2004) (citing Caldararo v. Vanderbilt
University, 794 S.W.2d 738, 742 (Tenn. App. 1990) (listing external
influences that could warrant a new trial including “consideration of facts
not admitted in evidence”)). Where Juror Buford’s unsworn and

unconfronted testimony related to the case the jurors were discussing, it

11 Ex. 6, Trial Tr. at 540-41.
12 Ex. 7, Trial Tr. 543.

13 Ex. 8, Trial Tr. 2971.

14 Ex. 9, Trial Tr. at 3272.
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1s properly considered extraneous to the jury’s considerations and is,
accordingly, not blocked by Rule 606. “[T]o be considered extraneous
evidence, the evidence must either relate to the case that the jurors are
deciding or be physically brought to the jury room or disseminated to the
jury.” Thompson v. Parker, 867 F.3d 641, 648-49 (6th Cir. 2017) (citing
Warger v. Shauers, 135 S. Ct. 521, 529 (2014) (holding, in a civil case,
that “[e]xternal’ matters include publicity and information related
specifically to the case the jurors are meant to decide, while ‘internal’
matters include the general body of experiences that jurors are
understood to bring with them to the jury room”)). If Rule 606 were to
block the courts’ consideration of Juror Buford’s misconduct, the rule
would be unconstitutional. An evidentiary rule cannot trump either Mr.
Smith’s right to confront the witnesses and evidence against him under
the Sixth Amendment or his right to due process under the Fifth.

In Doan v. Brigano, 237 F.3d 722 (6th Cir. 2001), the Sixth Circuit
examined a juror’s jury room expert testimony and found it clearly
“extraneous.” Id. at 734, overruled on other grounds by Wiggins v. Smith,
539 U.S. 510 (2003). The juror performed an experiment at home to test
the veracity of the defendant’s testimony and reported her findings to her
fellow jurors “in the manner of an expert witness.” /d. at 733. The Sixth
Circuit reviewed the misconduct, because it “stands in stark contrast to
an examination of internal factors affecting the jury ... . [F]or a juror to
perform and report to other jurors the results of an out-of-court
experiment . . . conflicts with Doan’s constitutional right to a fair and
impartial jury that considers only the evidence presented at trial. /d. The

(113

Sixth Amendment requires, “at the very least,” that the evidence brought

15


https://1.next.westlaw.com/Document/Ied04c5a0814c11e7b7978f65e9bf93b3/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)&userEnteredCitation=867+f3d+641
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Document/I0b7938607fb111e49488c8f438320c70/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)&userEnteredCitation=135+sct+521
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Document/I3df59ebb799711d9ac1ffa9f33b6c3b0/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)&userEnteredCitation=237+f3d+722
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Document/I64f89df49c9711d9bc61beebb95be672/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.Default)&userEnteredCitation=539+US+510
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Document/I64f89df49c9711d9bc61beebb95be672/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.Default)&userEnteredCitation=539+US+510

against a defendant and considered by the jury be presented at trial
where the defendant can confront that evidence to the fullest extent
possible.” Id. (quoting 7urner, 379 U.S. at 472-73).
D. Improper outside influences tainted the conviction in this
case.

The jury that convicted Mr. Smith discussed the case—with the
alternates—prior to submission, which constituted a “direct,
unauthorized private communication . . . during a trial about the matter
pending before the jury” in violation of Remmer v. United States, 347
U.S. 227, 229 (1955). Such a communication is presumptively prejudicial.
Id; Walsh v. State, 166 S.W.3d 641, 647 (Tenn. 2005) (citing State v.
Blackwell, 664 S.W.2d 686, 689 (Tenn. 1984)); State v. Parchman, 973
S.W.2d 607, 612 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1997)). As juror Kevin Stephens has
admitted, the alternate jurors were part of those discussions, including
expressing their opinions: “The alternates let us know they also thought
Mr. Smith was guilty.”15

This Court has held that, “[A] discharged alternate [juror] is no
longer a member of the jury since the function of an alternate juror ceases
when the case has been finally submitted.” State v. Adams, 405 S.W.3d
641, 651 (Tenn. 2013) (quoting State v. Bobo, 814 S.W.2d 353, 355 (Tenn.
1991)). In Adams, a discharged alternate left behind a note indicating his
opinion as to the defendant’s guilt. The note was discovered and read by
the foreperson of the jury prior to his vote in the deliberations. The

foreperson did not share the contents of the note with any other juror and

15 Ex. 10, Stephens Decl.
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made no mention of the note during deliberations. This Court determined
that the proper framework for determining the probable, objective effect
upon a verdict of a jury’s exposure of an improper outside influence
includes examination of the following factors: 1) the nature and content
of the information and influence; 2) the number of jurors exposed to the
information or influence; 3) the manner and timing of the exposure to the
juror(s); and 4) the weight of the evidence adduced at trial. These should
be considered in determining whether there exists a reasonable
possibility that the extraneous improper outside influence altered the
verdict. /d.

The Adams factors show that there is a reasonable possibility that
the improper influence altered the verdict against Mr. Smith. Here, the
alternate jurors discussed their opinion as to the ultimate issue—Mr.
Smith’s guilt.1® They did so in the presence of the entire jury. /d. This
was done prior to the dismissal of the alternates, but after the judge
repeatedly instructed the jury not to discuss the case until deliberation.1?
Because the discussions were held in flagrant violation of the court’s
instructions, it appears that they were not inadvertent slips of the

tongue, but rather an attempt by the alternates to make sure the other

16 Ex. 10, Stephens Decl.

17 Ex. 11, Trial Tr. at 1779; Ex. 12, 1d. at 2098; Ex. 13, id. at 2215; Ex.
14, 1d. at 2798 (reminding the jury “I still want you to remember not to
in any way make any remarks or have any conversations about what
you've heard. You’ll have plenty of time to do that. And I just wanted to
remind you to not have anything to say about what you have heart so
far. I hope you enjoy your lunch.”).
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jurors registered their opinions. In this circumstantial evidence case
where the jury was asked to rely on an inscrutable 911 call and a bloody
smudge on a sheet, Mr. Smith’s conviction was far from a foregone
conclusion. All of these factors create the “reasonable possibility” that the
improper outside influence altered the verdict.

Mzr. Smith is entitled to a hearing on this matter. As no procedure
currently exists in Tennessee for the adjudication of his claim, this Court
must establish a procedure.!8

E. Mr. Smith was denied a fair trial and the right to confront the
witnesses against him when a juror testified during jury
deliberations as to his purported expert opinion that Mr.
Smith’s alibi was not possible because of weather conditions
the night of the crime.

Juror Stephens testified as an unsworn, putative expert in the jury
room, violating Mr. Smith’s rights under the Fifth and Sixth
Amendments. Just as Juror Buford shared his purported knowledge
about a life sentence lasting only 13 years, Juror Stephens held himself
out to his fellow jurors as an expert on weather:

When I was in Antioch High School, I took an aerospace
science class taught by the head of local civil aviation. Later,
when I was in the Navy at Millington, I took a similar course.
From those classes, I learned about weather patterns. As I
explained to the jury, I knew from my training that the wind,

18 See Ex. 1 State v. Hall, E1997-00344-SC-DDT-DD at # (Tenn.
December 3, 2019) (holding that this Court will create procedures to fill
the procedural void where due process requires adjudication of claims)
(citing Van Tran v. State, 6 S'W.3d 257, 260 (Tenn. 1999)).
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as reported that night, would have cleared the fog enough that

a person would not have had to drive as slowly that evening.19

Juror Stephens’ actions were very similar to those of the juror found
to have violated the defendant’s constitutional right to confrontation in
Doan v. Brigano, 237 F.3d 722 (6th Cir. 2001). In Doan, the Sixth Circuit
reviewed the juror misconduct, holding that a juror reporting to other
jurors “the results of an out-of-court experiment . . . conflicts with Doan’s
constitutional right to a fair and impartial jury that considers only the
evidence presented at trial” Id. (emphasis supplied). The Sixth

(113

Amendment requires, “at the very least,” that the evidence brought
against a defendant and considered by the jury be presented at trial
where the defendant can confront that evidence to the fullest extent
possible.” Id. (quoting 7urner, 379 U.S. at 472-73). Mr. Smith had no
opportunity to confront Juror Stephens’ information and opinions; Mr.
Smith’s right of confrontation was violated and the resulting conviction

1s unconstitutional.

F. The jury that sentenced Mr. Smith to death otherwise
engaged in misconduct, failing to follow the court’s
instructions, deliberating prior to the close of proof, and
failing to engage in meaningful discussion of the issues prior
to rendering a verdict.

In addition to the constitutional violations outlined above, Mr.

Smith’s trial was infected by juror misconduct where jurors deliberated

19 Ex. 10, Stephens Decl.
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prior to the submission of all the evidence and where other jurors refused
to deliberate at all. In this case, the Court instructed the jury:

It 1s your duty, as jurors, to consult with one another and to
deliberate with a view to reaching an agreement, if you can do
so without violence to individual judgment. Each of you must
decide the case for yourself, but do so only after an impartial
consideration of the evidence with your fellow jurors.20
Despite that instruction, several jurors refused to deliberate with the rest
of the jury:
There were some hot heads on the jury. Those men just
wanted to make a quick decision and go home. I remember
one or two of them had their minds made up before we even
deliberated. It was clear that nothing would change their
minds about giving Mr. Smith the death penalty. Those guys
just wanted out of there, and didn’t participate in the
discussion except to hurry us along.2!
These jurors violated Mr. Smith’s right to a fair and impartial jury. See
State v. Wakefield No. M2007-2813-CCA-R3-CD, 2009 WL 137225, at
*3-4 (Tenn. Crim. App. Jan. 21, 2009) (finding “manifest necessity” for a
mistrial when a juror refuses to deliberate with the other jurors).
Other jurors, by contrast, deliberated before the submission of the
case to the jury: “We ate in the courthouse and therefore could speak

about things we heard at lunch. When we were eating, the alternates

could throw in their opinions. The alternates let us know they also

20 Ex. 15, Trial Tr., pp.3286-87.
21 Ex. 5, Buford Decl.
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thought Mr. Smith was guilty.”?2 Each of these failures to comply with
the court’s instructions were juror misconduct. But see State v. Frazier,
683 S.W.2d 346, 353 (Tenn. Crim. App. Oct. 25, 1984) (finding inquiring
into premature deliberations barred by Rule 606); State v. Leath, 461
S.W.3d 73, 110 (Tenn. Crim. App. June 3, 2013) (same).

To be sure when jury misconduct in a noncapital case is discovered
proximate to the verdict, other jurisdictions require a defendant to
establish prejudice from jury misconduct in order to be entitled to a new
trial. See United States v. Bertolr, 40 F.3d 1384 (3d Cir.1994) (trial judge
should, through voir dire, decide impact of premature jury deliberations
and effectiveness of curative instructions); United States v. Resko, 3 F.3d
684 (3d Cir. 1993) (prejudice 1s touchstone of entitlement to a new trial
when improper intra-jury influences are at issue); United States v.
Carmona, 858 F.2d 66, 69 (2d Cir. 1988); Unites States v. Klee, 494 F.2d
394 (9th Cir. 1974) (not every instance of misconduct warrants a new
trial); United States v. Piccarreto, 718 F. Supp. 1088 (W.D.N.Y. 1989)
(requiring a showing that discussions shaped final deliberations,
improperly influenced jurors, or prejudiced defendants.); State v. Hays,
883 P.2d 1093 (Kan.1994); People v. Renaud, 942 P.2d 1253 (Colo. Ct.
App. 1996) (requiring proof of prejudice); Commonwealth v. Maltais, 438
N.E.2d 847 (Mass.1982). However Mr. Smith has no way to carry such a
burden, given Tennessee Rule of Evidence 606. Walsh v. State, 166
S.W.3d 641, 647 (Tenn. 2005) (citing State v. Blackwell, 664 S.W.2d 686,
689 (Tenn. 1984)); State v. Parchman, 973 S.W.2d 607, 612 (Tenn. Crim.

22 Ex. 10, Stephens Decl.
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App. 1997)).Where i1t 1s impossible to conduct an adequate post-trial
inquiry due to the passage of time, other courts have found that new trial
may be ordered. See United States v. Resko, 3 F.3d 684 (3d Cir. 1993);
State v. Aldret, 509 S.E.2d 811, 814-15 (S.C. 1999).

The jury misconduct here “reaches past the statutory and
procedural framework of our criminal justice system and encroaches
upon certain basic constitutional guaranties.” State v. Bobo, 814 S.W.2d
353, 356 (Tenn., 1991). “Under Article I, § 6 of our constitution, the right
of trial by jury must be preserved inviolate.” /d. (citing Grooms v. State,
426 S.W.2d 176 (1968); Woods v. State, 169 S.W. 558 (1914)). Among the
essentials of the right to trial by jury is the constitutional right to have
all issues of fact submitted to the same jury at the same time. Winters v.
Floyd, 367 S.W.2d 288 (Tenn. 1962); Harbison v. Briggs Bros. Paint Mfg.
Co., 354 S.W.2d 464 (Tenn. 1961). Because of the misconduct of the jury,
that did not happen for Mr. Smith.

G. Due process requires that this Court create a procedure for
the resolution of Mr. Smith’s claims.

Mr. Smith has shown that the jury in his case violated his
constitutional rights in myriad ways including in violation of the Due
Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment and the Confrontation Clause of
the Sixth Amendment. Due process therefore requires that Mr. Smith be
provided a procedure by which he may establish his entitlement to relief.

This Court must establish a procedure for the vindication of his claims.23

23 See, Ex. 1 State v. Hall, E1997-00344-SC-DDT-DD (Tenn. December
3, 2019) (holding that where due process requires adjudication of
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Accordingly, this Court should deny the motion to set an execution date
and, instead, set forth a procedure by which Mr. Smith’s claims that his
due process right to a fair trial may be adjudicated and remand this
matter to the trial court for a hearing.
II. This Court should deny the State’s motion, because the
conviction is unreliable.

Mr. Smith’s conviction and death sentence violate the Constitution
because they are unreliable. The Supreme Court has repeatedly
recognized that any capital prosecution offends the Eighth Amendment
if the judicial system cannot sufficiently insure reliability in the
determination. Caldwell v. Mississippi, 472 U.S. 320, 329 (1985) (citing
FEddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104 (1982); Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586
(1978) (plurality opinion); Gardner v. Florida, 430 U.S. 349 (1977)
(plurality opinion); Woodson v. North Carolina, 428 U.S. 280 (1976))
Here, Mr. Smith was convicted based on a prosecution theory that is
inconsistent with the physical evidence and on the basis of misleading
testimony that was the product of the mishandling of evidence.

A. The prosecution’s theory of the case does not account for the
physical evidence.

Mr. Smith was convicted and is sentenced to death based on an
1mpossible prosecution theory that conflicts with the physical evidence.
The State’s entire case turned on the victims having been killed shortly

after the 911 call at 11:23 p.m. Though Mr. Smith had an alibi for that

claims, this Court will create procedures to fill the procedural void)
(citing Van Tran v. State, 6 S'W.3d 257, 260 (Tenn. 1999)).
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time as well as later in the evening, the proof that he was in Kentucky
became stronger the later the deaths occurred. The undisputed facts of
the police investigation of the 911 call and the evidence at the scene
completely undermine the prosecution’s theory, making it impossible
that Mr. Smith committed the murders as the prosecution claimed.

The prosecution theory at trial is demonstrably false, for at least
four separate reasons: 1) if the victims were killed when the prosecution
said, the police would have seen Chad Burnett’s body while circling the
house 1in response to the 911 call; 2) the police would have seen the open
back door; 3) the police saw lights on in the house that were turned off
before the discovery of the bodies; 4) the police would have heard the
victims’ hairdryer inside the house, and 5) the prosecution’s theory of the
crime in no way accounts for the alarm clock.

A 911 call from 324 Lutie was received by the emergency
dispatcher at 11:23. The prosecution’s theory at trial was that the victims
were killed shortly after the 911 call.24 The medical examiner based the
time of death partially on the 911 call.25 Undisputed testimony is that
within four minutes, at 11:27, three metro police officers arrived at 324
Lutie and approached the house. Metro Police Officers Michael Robinson
and Daniel Crockett arrived first at the house.26 Officer Terry Miller

24 Ex. 16, Trial Tr. at 56.

25 Ex. 17, PCR Tr. at 979.

26 See Ex. 18 THE TENNESSEAN, Slaying Site Call Handled Correctly,
Police Officials Say, Oct. 11, 1989, p. 1B) (hereinafter “Tennessean
Article”).
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arrived last. 2?7 Through an internal review of the incident, Deputy
Assistant Police Chief John Ross learned the details of the officers’
actions at the house that was reported by both The Tennessean and the
Nashville Banner.28

The Tennessean reported Ross’ findings on October 11, 1989,
explaining that “Crockett and Robinson arrived at 11:27 p.m., four
minutes after the call was dispatched by police, and began knocking at
doors to the house.”2? Ross confirmed that Officer Miller then arrived and
not only walked around the house but also looked into the house through
the windows:

Miller, who was patrolling the area and arrived in a backup

car shortly after the first two officers, walked around the side

of the home and Jooked in through the windows, Ross said.30
Miller walked around the right side of the house where windows were
accessible — not the left side, where windows were too high off the ground
to enable anyone to look inside the house.

The Nashville Banner also reported Ross’ findings that Miller not
only went around the house but also knocked on a door while doing so,
which necessarily was the back door — the only other door to the house

besides the front door that officers initially approached:

27 Id.; see also Ex. 19, Miller Deposition, excerpt at 17-18.

28 See Ex. 18, Tennessean article; Ex. 20, Nashville Banner, 971
Response Probe Clears 3 Metro Officers of Wrongdoing, Oct. 11, 1989, p.
1B (hereinafter “Nashville Banner Article”).

29 Ex. 18, Tennessean Article.

30 Jd. (emphasis supplied).
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Officers Daniel Crockett and Michael Robinson were assigned
to investigate the 911 report. Officer Terry Miller was in the
area and assisted.

Ross said the officers arrived at the house four minutes after

the call was made. The three officers stayed at the house nine

minutes. Two officers went to the front door and knocked

repeatedly. The other officer stood in the front yard to see if

anyone came to the front windows while the officers were

knocking on the door. That officer also checked the sides of the

house, including knocking on a door to see if anyone was

1nside.?!
Ross further stated: “There were no signs of physical violence, no broken
windows or kicked in doors.”32

Deputy Police Chief Ross’ statements right after the incident
provide key evidence that the murders did not occur at or around 11:30
p.m. (as the prosecution claimed) and that Oscar Smith is therefore
innocent. The murders did not occur around the time of the 911 call
because: (a) an officer walked around the house and saw no broken
windows or kicked in “doors” (plural); (b) the officer “looked in through
the windows;” (¢) Chad Burnett was found the next day in the room at
the back right of house; yet (d) no officer saw Chad’s body through the
window when looking through the windows at 11:30 p.m., though Chad’s
body would have been visible if he actually had been dead at that time.

A visual examination of the scene proves that no one was killed at

324 Lutie Street at or around 11:30 p.m. Ex. 21 is a picture of the front

31 Ex. 20, NASHVILLE BANNER ARTICLE (emphasis added).
32 Id. (emphasis added).
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of the residence at 324 Lutie Street. Ex. 22 shows the right side of the
house, looking down the side. The right side of the house has four
windows. /d. Chad was found on the floor of the room with the fourth
window which, at the time, had sheer curtains that were open when Chad
was found and allowed an unimpeded view into the room.

The fourth window on the side of the house was at or below the
officer’s eye level and an officer certainly would have looked into that
window upon walking around the house. See Ex. 23 (entire right side of
house showing four windows); Ex. 24 (right side focusing on two far right
windows). Critically, an officer looking into that last side window would
have had an unobstructed view of anyone lying on the floor of that room
—if anyone had actually been there. See Ex. 25 (showing side window to
room where Chad was found the next day, with sheer open curtain
making any body easily visible through that side window).

Moreover, there was a second window to that very room on the back
of the house, as seen on the far left side of a picture of the back of the
house. See Ex. 26 (photo of back of house). The officer also had a clear,
unobstructed view of the floor of the room from that rear window, because
the sheer curtains were completely open to that window when Chad was
found. See Ex. 27 (picture from inside the room where Chad was found
with view of the window on the back of the house, showing clear visibility
through that window of anything on the floor).

All of this proves that at 11:30 p.m., while an officer walked around
the house and looked through the windows and into the room where Chad
was found the next day, the officers did not see Chad on the floor. The

reason: When the officer looked through those unobstructed windows,
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Chad had not been killed and was not lying on the floor. Chad was still
alive — and not killed until later in the morning of the next day, when the
hair dryer was running, and when Oscar Smith was out of town.

This evidence also has to be considered in light of additional
evidence about the time of death and Oscar Smith’s whereabouts in the
morning. Not only did Dr. Hofman testify that the victims may have died
as late as 8:00 or 9:00 a.m. the following day (October 2, 1990 — when
Oscar Smith was unquestionably at work in Morehead, Kentucky),33 but
even Dr. Charles Harlan said the deaths occurred as late as the morning
of the day they were found.34 Considering the officers did not see Chad’s
body in the back room at 11:30 p.m. when that evidence would have been
clearly visible to the officers, there is a reasonable probability that Oscar
Smith would have been acquitted of first-degree murder given this
gaping hole in the prosecution’s assertion that Oscar Smith was guilty
because he killed the victims around 11:30 p.m.

To be sure, in 2017, there was some uncertainty with Officers Miller
and Crockett about who went around the house and looked into the
windows. Almost thirty years after the event, Miller believed that it was

Crockett who went around the house.3% Crockett testified that he did not

33 Ex. 28, Evid. Hr'g Tr. at 18.

34 See Ex. 29, Banner Article (Harlan said the victims may have died as
late as 10:00 a.m. on the day they were found).

35 Ex. 19, Jan. 27, 2017 Deposition of Officer Terry Miller at 18 (“I
thought that Crockett had gone around to the back;” “I thought
Crockett had gone around on the back.”).
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go to the back of the house. 3¢ Nevertheless, Deputy Chief Ross’
contemporaneous statements show that Miller went around the house,
looked into the windows, and checked the back door (which is proven by
the fact that Deputy Chief Ross was able to state that there were “no
kicked in doors” at the house). Yet while looking in the windows and
checking the doors at 11:30 pm. Officer Miller did not see Chad’s body in
the back room. Compare Ex. 24, Photos of Outside of 324 Lutie with Ex.
30, Photo of Body in Relation to Side Window and Ex. 27, Photo of Body
in Relation to Back Window.

This same proof further supports Mr. Smith’s innocence, because
Officer Miller did not see the back door open when he was inspecting the
house at 11:30 that night, yet the back door was open at the time of the
discovery of the victims’ bodies. Michael Price, the seven-year-old cousin
and nephew of the victims, was the first person to report discovery of the
bodies. He testified that he went in the back door of the house which was
standing open:

Q: Okay. Did you go in the front door or the back door?
A: The back door.

Q: Okay. Was it open or closed?

A: It was open.

Q: Was it standing open?

A: Yeah.

36 Kx. 31, February 28, 2017 Deposition of Officer Crockett, excerpt at
20-21.
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Q: And where did you go when you went in the house?

A: To where the noise was coming from.

Q: What kind of noise was it?

A: A hair dryer.

Q: Okay. Was it on?

The Court: Speak up in a good, strong voice now, real loud.
Q (By Gen. Thurman): The hair dryer was on?

A: Yeah.37

The uncontroverted proof at trial shows that someone was alive in
the victims’ home after the police left the home at 11:30. The proof at trial
clearly showed that the lights at 324 Lutie were on when the police
responded to the call.3® However, Billy Fields testified at trial that the
lights were all off when he arrived at the victims’ home on October 2.39
Further, the uncontroverted proof is that the victims’ hairdryer was
found under Jason’s body — still running at the time the victims’ bodies
were found in the afternoon of October 2, 1989.40 The hairdryer further
demonstrates that the victims were not dead at the time the officers
circled the house. The officers testified that at the time they knocked on

the front door and at the time Officer Miller went around the house,

37 Ex. 32, Trial Tr.: Testimony of Michael Price, p. 1821-22.

38 Kx. 33, Robinson Report, p. 2.

39 Ex. 34, Trial Tr. at 2178, 2183.

40 [d.; Ex. 35, Trial Tr. at 1851; Ex. 36, Supplemental Report by Det.
Bernard.
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nothing appeared amiss. Had they heard the hair dryer, the officers
would not have given up and left so quickly.

The victims’ alarm clock is physical evidence that the prosecution’s
theory 1s not what occurred. It is uncontroverted that the victims’ alarm
clock was set for 5:00 a.m. and was not ringing at the time the bodies
were discovered.4! This fact demonstrates that the killing occurred after
5:00 a.m. — when Mr. Smith was demonstrably out-of-town. Had the
victims been killed at the time of the 911 call as the State maintained,
one of two things would be true: either 1) the alarm clock would not yet
be set to alarm in the morning, because the victims had not yet gone to
bed or 2) the alarm clock would have been ringing when the victims’
bodies were discovered, because they had set the clock before being
attacked. What cannot be true is that the victims were attacked after
setting the alarm, that the attack happened before 5:00 a.m., and that
the alarm was not sounding when the bodies were discovered. Instead,
the version of events that could account for both the fact that the alarm
was set (as clearly documented by the police in Ex. 37) and for the fact
that the alarm was not sounding when the bodies were found (id.) is that
the victims rose in the morning after 5:00 a.m., turned off the sounding
alarm, reset the alarm to ring the next day, and then were subsequently
attacked.

Finally, the presence of an identifiable print of an unknown person
on the bloody awl undermines the prosecution’s theory. It is uncontested

that the awl found at the scene created the puncture wounds found on

41 Ex. 37, Oct. 2, 1989, MNPD Supplemental Report.
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Chad and Judy. 42 Sargent Hunter testified, consistent with the
prosecution’s theory, that there were no identifiable fingerprints on the
awl.43 However, subsequent analysis of the awl has shown the presence
of an identifiable print that does not belong to Oscar Smith or any of the
victims. 44 Given that the awl was covered in blood when found and
matched the victims’ wounds, the presence of a print from an unknown
person on the awl refutes the prosecution’s theory.

B. The conviction is unreliable because the police and

prosecution mishandled evidence.

A review of the latent print evidence proves that numerous latent
prints found at the crime scene are identifiable and traceable to persons
other than Oscar Smith and that Johnny Hunter misidentified numerous
latent prints in this case. Hunter was an unreliable witness, inexpert in
the identification of prints, and his analysis and testimony in this case
were unscientific and wholly unreliable.45

The expert examination of the dozens of latent prints recovered

from the house reveals not only that numerous latent prints recovered

42 Ex. 38, Trial Tr. at 2566-75 (Chad); Ex. 39, 1d. at 2620-21 (Judy).

43 Ex. 40, 1d. at 1973.

44 Ex. 41, Bright-Birnbaum Report. The latent lifts from the awl
revealed two latent prints, however one of the prints was Sargent
Hunter’s own ring finger. Clearly Sargent Hunter did not commit the
crime, but the trial court should have been informed of his
incompetence prior to making the decision to deem him an expert, and
the jury should have been told of metro police’s lack of care with the
scene evidence.

45 See Ex. 41, Bright-Birnbaum Report.
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from the crime scene are identifiable and not Oscar Smith’s (thus
showing someone else’s guilt), but also that Hunter’s analysis in this case
was littered with misidentifications of prints and scientifically erroneous
conclusions. Hunter misidentified and misclassified numerous latent
prints in this case. As we know from the Bright-Birnbaum Report,
Hunter made significant errors and reached scientifically erroneous
conclusions in his analyses of at least 16 of the latent prints recovered
from the crime scene. Hunter’s 16 errors spanned the “thirty four (34)
latent lift cards” obtained from the house. 46 Thus, Hunter reached
erroneous conclusions with regard to nearly 50% of the prints lifted. Had
counsel investigated this latent print evidence, counsel easily could have
excluded Hunter from testifying at all as an “expert.”

Johnny Hunter’s testimony was wholly unreliable because he made
glaring errors in his analysis and conclusions in this case. Had the jury
heard evidence of Hunter’s errors and unreliability, there is a reasonable
probability that the jury would not have credited Hunter’s identification
of the print on the bedsheet and never would have convicted Oscar Smith.

As certified latent print examiner Kathleen Birnbaum explains,
with regard to the latent prints recovered in the house, Johnny Hunter:
(a) made two erroneous identifications; (b) erroneously failed to make
four identifications; and (c) made ten other errors when he erroneously
concluded that ten other prints were of “no value.” Ms. Birnbaum
summarizes this litany of 16 clear errors made by Officer Hunter with

regard to the prints from the latent print cards:

46 Jd. at 1.
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During my review of the latent prints and identifications
made by Officer Hunter, I concluded that two (2) of the
1dentifications were erroneous. One latent print (#001-25)
identified as belonging to Chad Barnette was actually made
by Judith Smith and a second latent print (#001-34) identified
as belonging to Judith Smith was actually made by Jason
Barnette.

Of the thirty-three (33) latent prints marked of N/V [No
Value] (Officer Hunter’s report states there were thirty (30)
latent prints to be of No Identifiable value), I found sufficient
detail to identify one (1) of the latent prints, #001-14, to Chad
Barnette and two (2) of the latent prints, #001-20 and 001-33,
to Jason Barnette. One (1) additional latent, #001-001(A), also
marked N/V, was identified as belonging to Officer Hunter.
An additional ten (10) latent prints marked N/V (#001-05,
001-10, 001-18, 001-19, 001-21, 001-23, 001-24 (x2), 001-32,
001-33) and another with no markings #O001-01), were
determined to be of value for comparison purposes, but no
1dentifications were made to the inked/known prints that had
been submitted to me.47

Among Johnny Hunter’s many mistakes was his contamination of the

crime scene — including contaminating the evidence collection from the

murder weapon with his own prints.

Johnny Hunter’s prints were among those collected by MNPD

demonstrating that he did not follow evidence gathering protocol. As set
forth, above, Hunter collected his own print and marked it #001-001(A).48

He then failed to identify the print as his own, instead completing reports

47 Jd. at 1.
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that showed the print as “N/V” (“no value”). Id. Hunter’s failure to follow
protocol is particularly relevant because his own fingerprints were found
on the murder weapon.

Johnny Hunter contaminated the evidence collection — lifting his
own prints from the awl used to stab Chad and Judy. As the Bright-
Birnbaum Report documents, a latent print from Hunter’s left ring finger
was included in the latent print lifts from the awl. Though Birnbaum
believes that the print was left by Hunter on the lifting tape (as opposed
to actually on the awl) such contamination is unacceptable. Further,
Hunter failed to identify this readily identifiable print — instead marking
the print “N/V” for “no value.”4® Whether Hunter failed to identify his
own print to cover his own incompetence or failed to recognize that the
1dentifiable print on his lifting tape from the awl was his own matters
not: Hunter’s incompetence is manifest.

Simply stated, Hunter never should have even testified in this case
as a purported “expert.” His entire testimony would have been
categorically excluded as unreliable and inadmissible had trial counsel
1mpeached his work with his error rate. His errors were unquestionably
beyond the pale, on a magnitude far beyond any known or recognized
failure of any other fingerprint examiner petitioner has been able to

1dentify.50

49 Compare Ex. 42, 1/30/90 Supplemental Report: Final Analysis of the
Latent Fingerprints (dismissing all prints not enumerated as “of no
1dentifiable value”) with Ex. 41, Bright-Birnbaum Report.

50 Ex. 43, Ulery, et al., Accuracy And Reliability Of Forensic Latent
Fingerprint Decisions, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences
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Even if Hunter had been allowed to testify despite his clear lack of
expertise, if the jury had learned that Hunter’s classification and
1dentification of prints was so shockingly wrong, and if counsel had cross-
examined Hunter to show his unreliability, there is little question that
the jury would have had no faith in Hunter’s testimony against Oscar
Smith. Jurors would have rejected his testimony and conclusions as
scientifically unreliable, and jurors would have voted to acquit Oscar
Smith.

In addition to the mishandling of the fingerprint evidence, the State
allowed a key piece of evidence, a bloody knife found at 324 Lutie, to be
wiped clean — thereby allowing its evidentiary value to be destroyed.
Though the police inventory did not initially discover it, a bloody knife
was found at the murder scene —hidden under the house. The homeowner
turned the knife over to the Detective McElroy.5! The knife was later
determined to have Chad Burnett’s blood on it and to be consistent with
the slashing defensive wounds to Chad and Jason’s hands.52

Despite the obvious import of a bloody k